MINUTES OF THE
SOUTHWEST FLORIDA REGIONAL PLANNING COUNCIL
MAY 15, 2025, MEETING

The in-person and virtual zoom meeting of the Southwest Florida Regional Planning Council’s
Executive Board was held on May 15, 2025. The meeting started at approximately 10:02 am. A
quorum of the Executive Committee was present.

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT

Charlotte County: Mr. Don McCormick (zoom)

Collier County: Commissioner Bill McDaniel

Councilman Bill Kramer- City of Naples (zoom)

Glades County: Commissioner, Tim Stanley

Hendry County: None

Lee County: None

Sarasota County: Councilman Ron Smith — City of Venice

Ex-Officio Members: Phil Flood (zoom)

OTHERS PRESENT

. Margaret Wuerstle — SWFRPC, Executive Director

. Rebekah Harp — SWFRPC, Deputy Director/Business Operations Manager
. Catherine Peralta — SWFRPC Resiliency Project Support

. Julie Bankston- SWFRPC Vista

. Jim Burch — SWFRPC, Disaster Recovery Coordinator/Project Manager

. Jeff Tuscan - HSC/ Tuscan & Company, PA

Zoom Attendance

. Asmaa Odeh — SWFRPC, LEPC Coordinator/VISTA Supervisor
. Alysia Cancel — SWFRPC Vista

. Kristin Dozier — FRCA Executive Director

. Jennifer Codo-Salisbury — CFRPC Executive Director

Ms.Tara McCue- ECFRPC Executive Director

Ms.
Mr.

Elizabeth Payne —NEFRC Chief Executive Officer
Grant Williams Alley — City Attorney of Ft. Myers

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 1



Ms. Rochelle Gallant - City of Sarasota
Mr. Derek Felder

AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM #6(a) - MINUTES
MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2025, COUNCIL/EXECUTIVE MEETING

Councilman Ron Smith offered a motion to accept the April 17, 2025, Council/Executive
Meeting Minutes. Commissioner Bill McDaniel seconded the motion to accept the April 17,
2025, Council/Executive Meeting Minutes. The motion was approved unanimously.

AGENDA ITEM #6(b) - FINANCIALS
AUDIT REPORT FY 2023-2024
AUDIT GRAPHS & CHARTS

Mr. Jeff Tuscan began by explaining that for the last four or five years, a comment was included
in the reports indicating that revenues were not sufficient to cover operating expenses.
However, the RPC had previously sold the building and had some reserves when that occurred.
Over the last four or five years, the RPC had been gradually depleting those reserves to cover
operating costs, as expenses were greater than revenues in most years. At this point in time,
based on Margaret’s and Rebekah’s projections for fiscal year 2025, it does not look favorable
that the organization is unlikely to sustain operations beyond September 30, 2025, unless
something significant occurred. He noted that over time he had heard comments from various
board members and the public, suggesting that expenses needed to be cut back, and so on.
Over these four or five years, staff, along with Margaret and Rebekah, had sold the building, got
out of the lease that the RPC had for office space, and essentially cut all operating expenses to a
minimum.

What Mr. Tuscan wasn’t sure everyone understood was that many kept saying, “we’ll just get
more grants.” However, most grants do not cover administrative costs, and many of them have
a matching component. This means that some of the operating money had to be used to match
those grants. He pointed out that the staff had done an excellent job ramping up grants, but it
still required some administrative dollars. As he mentioned, over time, most governments had
stopped contributing, so the administrative unrestricted dollars had not been coming in.

He explained how the RPC is considered what’s called an “other” government, essentially
operating like a special district. But there are unique circumstances because the RPC wasn’t
necessarily formed by public vote; it was created by statute. In general, most organizations like
this are required to do a final audit and closeout audit, which would involve required dollars. He
anticipated that there would likely be some legal work to be done, and he needed to consult
with Margaret and Rebekah to determine what state agencies needed to be notified and

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 2



whether it was even legal to close and dissolve the RPC, or if there was a process for
dissolution, given that it was formed under statute. He wasn’t entirely sure of all the
ramifications. He also noted that Margaret and Rebekah had built up comp time, so part of the
reserves had already been allocated to that.

He continued by explaining that the audit was still in draft form, and they had included a
comment in the response letter stating that there was a serious risk the organization may not
survive beyond September 30. Depending on the board's direction, the response letter might
need to be updated if the decision was made to end operations or if there was a possibility of
acquiring some unrestricted dollars to extend the life of the organization. He mentioned that he
had seen many RPCs attempt to get different governments to start participating again, but it
hadn’t happened. The only thing he could think of was whether any nonprofit or for-profit
entities out there would be interested in helping keep the RPC alive, potentially contributing
through tax-deductible donations. However, he pointed out that this would be a quick ask if it
were possible.

Commissioner Bill McDaniel then stated that they would explore the possibilities, but he was
having trouble determining how much of the unrestricted funds were available through
September of this year. He wanted to know what the balance was after the comp time money
had been allocated. Commissioner McDaniel said he wanted this information clearly delineated
so that he understood what revenue the RPC had available. He further explained that he had
mistakenly believed that the acceptance of the draft MOU, bylaws, and interlocal agreement by
Collier County’s board would allow Collier County to begin the new MOU, interlocal, and
bylaws, enabling them to pay the 15-cent per diem on a quarterly basis, as outlined in the draft
documents. However, he had since learned from his Clerk of Courts that the RPC had never
officially accepted or approved those documents, so he was unable to direct the payment.

Commissioner McDaniel stated that Margaret and Rebekah are still operating off an old MOU,
an old interlocal agreement, and an old set of bylaws that required them to bill at the 30-cent
per diem rate. He explained that, because the new documents had never been adopted, he did
not have legal authority from Collier County’s standpoint to contribute. He noted that
Councilman Bill Kramer had accepted the documents as well, and he believed that if the
Executive Board approved the draft MOU, interlocal agreement, and bylaws, it would grant the
legal authority for certain RPC members to begin the 15-cent per diem payment plan.

In the meantime, Commissioner McDaniel mentioned that he was in the process of contacting
Commissioner Tim Stanley and other county commissioners within the RPC membership. He
was working to get them to do the same thing Collier County had already done—accept, but
not approve, the draft MOU, interlocal agreement, and new bylaws.

Once that was completed, McDaniel explained, the RPC's membership structure would be
reestablished. The membership would be streamlined, eliminating many peripheral members
who had voting rights and focusing on two county commissioners from each county and one
representative from an incorporated area within each county initially. After the group comes
together and adopts the draft MOU, interlocal agreement, and bylaws, they could begin voting

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 3



on governance decisions, including how to admit new voting members and how to govern the
RPC moving forward. Commissioner McDaniel stated that one of today’s actions would be to
formally accept the draft MOU, interlocal agreement, and bylaws under member comments,
which would then allow Councilman Kramer and Collier County to begin contributing the 15-
cent per diem, provided Commissioner McDaniel could get past his Clerk of Courts with the
adoption process as this would help provide some needed financial relief.

Commissioner Tim Stanley responded stating that by September, the RPC would be out of
money. No one—particularly staff—would be able to be paid. He noted that if counties were
not going to step in, and in his opinion, unless Lee and Charlotte counties, along with the board,
got involved, the situation would not improve. He stated that even if payments were made, it
still would not be enough to pay staff. Even if dues were paid immediately, the amount would
not cover salaries for the four staff members. He acknowledged that Margaret’s position would
be vacated, but pointed out that someone would still need to be hired to replace her. He
emphasized that whatever decision was made at this meeting, at the next meeting they would
need to bring in someone to provide clarity on the legal standing of the organization. As had
been mentioned, bills would be coming due, and if the RPC could not continue, those bills
would still need to be paid—even though there would be no money. He questioned where
those funds would come from.

Commissioner Bill McDaniel responded by asking Mr. Tuscan to review the unrestricted funds.
He noted that the assessment comparison table displays both the total and quarterly
assessment amounts and that Collier County owed two or more quarters in assessments.

In response to Commissioner Stanley’s comments, Commissioner Bill McDaniel stated he had
already received commitments from his senior management to step in and assist RPC staff in
administering the organization, both from a compliance and operational standpoint, to ensure
everything was in order to the best extent possible given the available information. He
continued by stating that he had not been able to determine from the current information how
much of the unrestricted funds were available once the comp time was deducted. Knowing that
would then allow them to calculate what Collier County was willing or able to contribute and,
subsequently, to determine the burn rate. He concluded that the ultimate decision would hinge
on understanding the available unrestricted funds and what the burn rate would be.

Commissioner Stanley pointed out that the burn rate is in the packet on the two pages of the
six month financial report.

Ms. Wuerstle pointed out that if the RPC was unable to continue, the typical outcome, due to
the RPC having been created by state statute, would be for the governor to reassign the
counties to one of the other RPCs, as had occurred with Withlacoochee. She assumed that FRCA
would step in and petition the governor to reassign the counties.

Commissioner Bill McDaniel responded by stating that this was what would inevitably transpire
if this RPC folded, being that by statute, the RPCs were created, and by statute, all the counties

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 4



had to be a member of an RPC. He noted that the RPC started to decline when Sarasota decided
they were going to leave and join Tampa, although they never did that. Instead, they simply
stopped paying.

Mr. Jeff Tuskan stated he wanted to make sure that the opinion provided in the audit report
was seen, noting that it was under the matter of emphasis. Once this gets submitted to the
Auditor General, which all reports do, it’s likely they’re going to get involved because they’re
charged with getting ahead of these things and ensuring it’s closed out properly. He wanted to
alert the council ahead of time.

Commissioner Bill McDaniel responded that he had been requesting a burn rate report from
Margaret for the past three years. He emphasized that the challenges facing the Southwest
Florida Regional Planning Council were not new, noting he had previously written to the
governor—both as chair and member—seeking authority to restructure the council. McDaniel
explained that the issues had been ongoing since he joined eight years ago and had gradually
escalated. He welcomed oversight from the Auditor General, stating that the findings were
already known and not a surprise. While acknowledging the difficulties, he praised the staff for
their outstanding work despite limited resources. He concluded by expressing regret over the
council's likely outcome, saying he had hoped for a longer-term solution at least through the
end of September, but was prepared to accept the consequences if it came to an end.

Mr. Tuscan responded by stating that, to get right to the point, page three of the graph
specifically the top right-hand corner, shows the amount that was held in reserves as of
September 30, 2024. He addressed Margaret and Rebekah, acknowledging that they had done
a commendable job, as had already been noted, in trying to make the organization profitable
and ensure its survival. He explained that projections extended through fiscal year 2025, which
was approximately five months away, and under those projections, around $176,000 if
everything proceeded according to plan. In addition to that, $45,000 was owed to individuals
for approved compensation. He concluded that, roughly speaking, about $230,000 was already
accounted for.

Mr. Tuscan continued by explaining that if the burn rate was estimated at $180,000, with an
additional $50,000 more or less, then—assuming everything proceeded as planned—there
would likely be around $30,000 to $40,000 remaining unallocated. However, he noted that the
final closeout would probably be a higher amount.

Commissioner Bill McDaniel, referring to operating expenses on a monthly basis, asked what
the outstanding payables. Councilman Smith noted that the burn rate had been $180,000 a
year and then clarified it was about $50,000 a month. Commissioner McDaniel added that this
was assuming no one contributed anything further. Additionally, if Collier County had accepted
the draft Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), interlocal agreement, and bylaws in the third
or fourth quarter of the previous year that acceptance would represent recorded payments of
$15,000—an additional $45,000—which contributed to the overall financial pool and provided
some relief and hope for longevity in order to meet expenses and pay staff. He then asked if the
$15,000 monthly included Margaret’s salary.

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 5



Mr. Tuscan clarified that when he used the term "burn rate," he was actually referring to the
projected loss for the year—not the total operating cost. He noted that the costs are $70,000
per month to operate, but the $180,000 mentioned earlier represented the shortfall, meaning
the expenses were greater than the revenue.

Ms. Wuerstle stated the report he had requested began on page 27 of the agenda packet. This
report showed the sources of income, the burn rate, and operating expenses. She noted that
Rebekah had determined the monthly burn rate to be $69,193—so approximately $70,000 a
month.

Councilman Ron Smith asked Mr. Tuscan whether any other concerns were discovered. He
acknowledged that the primary concern was the organization's ability to continue but asked if
there had been any criticisms of the financial reporting, accounting, or any other failures that
needed to be brought to their attention.

Mr. Tuscan replied that there were three comments at the back of the report on pages 72 and
73. One was the issue they had just discussed, another was that accrued compensation time
was accumulating. There were also a few outstanding checks that were more than 12 months
old. However, he considered this to be immaterial under the circumstances. According to
Florida law, any checks older than 12 months are to be turned over to the state. But in this
case, he did not see that as a significant issue.

He went on to explain that, historically, when he had been involved in the closeout of an entity
like this, he would perform the final audit, coordinate with the Auditor General’s office, and
submit the audit to them. Typically, such entities would be classified as special districts, and the
State had a special district information department. However, this organization fell into a
different category. Therefore, he believed Margaret was probably right in stating that
coordination would need to be with the Florida Regional Councils Association (FRCA) and the
Governor’s Office, more so than the special district office, to ensure they understood the
organization’s current situation and intent.

Councilman Ron Smith expressed the view that the Governor should be notified differently than
in the past. Instead of continuing to request assistance, he believed it was necessary to inform
the Governor of the seriousness of the situation. He suggested that this communication occur
prior to the Government responding to the audit. He wanted the organization to inform the
Governor of the severity of the financial position and the imminent submission of the audit,
which he believed would trigger a cascade of events. He felt it was urgent to seek direction
regarding the current status.

Commissioner Bill McDaniel then raised another question. He asked whether the salaries
included in the monthly report encompassed all employee salaries and how much that amount
would be reduced once Margaret was no longer on the payroll.

Rebekah referred to page 30 of the report, indicating that the salaries were already beginning
to decrease month by month. She noted that April, May, and June all reflected reductions in

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 6



personnel expenses and that Margaret's salary was being phased out. She explained that the
full reduction would become evident by August, once Margaret’s final payout and insurance
obligations were complete. At that point, salaries would drop from $35,000 to $19,000 per
month.

Margaret then asked Rebekah about the funding sources listed under the FDEP Resiliency
Grant, which showed $107,000. She noted that it was a two-part grant, and another $182,000
should be received in July. Rebekah responded by stating that they did not yet have the
contract for the additional funds. Margaret confirmed that while the total amount of the grant
had been approved, it was split into two years. Because the grant wasn’t approved until the end
of the year, there were only three or four months left to complete the project. Acknowledging
that more than one year would be needed, the agency agreed to provide a portion for the
current year, with the remainder—$182,000—to follow via a new contract starting in July. She
emphasized that this additional amount had been approved. Rebekah confirmed that she had
included that $182,000 in the budget for the next fiscal year.

Commissioner Bill McDaniel noted that the payout for the July contract likely would not occur
for 60 to 90 days. Rebekah agreed, stating that deliverables would need to be completed
before they could draw down the funds. Commissioner McDaniel asked how much of the
$180,000-plus was actual grant money and how much was allocated for administration.

Ms. Wuerstle clarified that the entire amount is grant money, with no matching requirements.
It is all intended to fund the project.

Commissioner McDaniel asked for clarification of how much of the funds are available to offset
operating expenses for the organization as a whole. Both Ms. Wuerstle and Rebekah confirmed
that the grant was specifically allocated for salaries.

Ms. Wuerstle explained that the organization would close out the year on June 30th with
$107,000, and the new contract for $182,000 would begin in July. She noted that the $107,000
had been accounted for, while the $182,000 had not.

Mr. Tuscan asked whether the entire $182,000 would be used for contract-related expenses.
Ms. Wuerstle replied that it would cover salaries. Mr. Tuscan asked whether that included
administrative salaries, which Ms. Wuerstle confirmed.

Commissioner McDaniel requested a specific breakdown so they could determine how much of
the funds could be used for operations and how much was restricted to project allocations.
Rebekah replied that 100% of the funds would go towards operations. Commissioner McDaniel
noted that, theoretically, this meant an additional $180,000 could be added to their balance by
the end of the fiscal year.

Ms. Wuerstle agreed but reminded the group that the funds were for salaries, and the staff had
to complete the project deliverables. She explained that while such work is often handled by
outside consultants, in this case, it would be done by staff. Rebekah, Jim, and Catherine would

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 7



all be contributing to the project. Since the staff was producing the deliverables themselves, the
organization would not be hiring external consultants.

Commissioner McDaniel stated that the $182,000 would help offset all the salaries and
expenses the organization actually had.

Commissioner Tim Stanley pointed out that the $107,000 would be used up by September,
meaning the $182,000 would effectively just replace already budgeted funds for another year.
He concluded that the organization would still be in the same financial position.

Commissioner McDaniel agreed, acknowledging that the “ship is sailing,” but the question was
how long it could continue past the end of the fiscal year. He suggested it would be wise to
inform the Governor’s office of the organization’s financial situation.

Commissioner Tim Stanley added that it would be crucial for the next meeting to include a
representative from each county. He emphasized the need to determine whether counties
were committed to participation. If not, there would be no point in pushing forward, as the
organization could not operate with support from only three counties. Stating that by
September, staff would not be able to be paid unless one or more counties stepped in with
additional funding.

Ms. Jennifer Codo-Salisbury requested that FRCA and CFRPC be added to the June 19th agenda
to discuss options and the organization's path forward. She asked that the group hold off on
sending a letter to the Governor until after that meeting. Ms. Codo-Salisbury noted that further
discussion is needed to determine a path forward, and in alignment with Commissioner
Stanley’s points, she believes that this presents a valuable opportunity to engage all Board
members and bring them to the table to consider the organization's future. She expressed
willingness to help facilitate the conversation and collaborate with staff to develop a detailed
agenda. She requested the opportunity to hold that discussion on June 19th.

Most members welcomed the idea, however Councilman Smith stated that this was attempted
previously and didn’t conclude in that fashion. He expressed that there is agreement on
moving forward with the proposed discussion, but also a strong need to involve every county
with a sense of urgency, particularly given that dissolution may be considered at the upcoming
meeting. It was recommended that a representative from the Governor’s office be invited to
attend, reflecting the seriousness of the situation. Councilman Smith emphasized the
importance of consulting with legal counsel to address the implications of dissolution, including
the potential reassignment of counties. The matter should be treated as a high-priority alert for
all relevant stakeholders, taking advantage of the support and coordination from FRCA and
Central Florida.

Commissioner McDaniel asked Ms. Wuerstle or Ms. Harp to draft a letter of which he will send
to his colleagues on the executive board. It will be the red alert letter inviting them to our June
19t meeting. Commissioner McDaniel continued to state that a clearer understanding will
emerge once the Executive Board adopts or approves the draft MOU, interlocal agreement, and

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 8



bylaws. At that point, it will be easier to determine whether the Collier County Clerk will
authorize the disbursement of funds. While the amounts may seem small, even minor
contributions—when added together—can extend operations by another month or two, which
could make a meaningful difference in the long run. If it becomes necessary to dissolve the
organization, then dissolution must proceed. While that is certainly not the desired outcome, it
appears increasingly imminent if current circumstances are not addressed or changed.

Ms. Wuerstle asked for clarification of who the letter should be sent to, just the counties or
counties and cities? Commissioner McDaniel clarified that only the counties are technically
responsible for membership and the payment of per diem. He explained that, under the current
structure, municipalities within each county were intended to serve as an offset, rather than
bearing direct responsibility. Theoretically, the City of Naples would contribute a proportionate
share of Collier County’s $15,000 quarterly payment. That contribution would then be applied
as an offset to the county’s quarterly expense in the next billing cycle.

Councilman Smith clarified that he understood the arrangement: the City of Naples’
contribution does not represent additional funds beyond Collier County’s commitment, but
rather a portion of it. Therefore, Naples’ payment reduces the overall amount Collier County
must contribute, with the total commitment remaining the same.

He emphasized the importance of including specific language in the urgent “red alert” letter—
particularly the paragraph highlighted by the auditor, which states there is “substantial doubt
about the Council’s ability to continue as a going concern.” He stressed that this finding must be
communicated clearly to the Governor and to each county. Additionally, he underscored the
need for a leading representative from every county, as well as someone from the Governor’s
office, to be present for the upcoming discussions. He noted that support from Central Florida
and FRCA will also be essential in determining the next steps.

Commissioner McDaniel inquired about the idea of delaying the firm letter until after the June
meeting, as Jennifer had suggested.

Councilman Smith responded that he had not initially understood Jennifer to be recommending
a deferral of the letter, but rather a revision. He emphasized that a letter must be sent, as the
presence of a representative from the Governor’s office at the upcoming meeting is essential.
He also stressed the need to engage legal counsel, stating that it is the Council’s responsibility
given the auditor’s findings and the current uncertainty surrounding the Council’s legal
standing.

Jeff Tuscan suggested that the Council might consult legal counsel already retained by their
association for guidance.

Commissioner McDaniel noted that FRCA does, in fact, have legal counsel—specifically the
individual who attended their meeting last fall—who could provide valuable guidance on
matters related to local governance and may be more knowledgeable than seeking outside
legal assistance.

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 9



Ms. Codo-Salisbury expressed that she strongly recommends holding off on sending a formal
letter to the Governor at this time. She emphasized that while there are multiple regional
planning councils across the state, actions taken by one can have consequences for all ten. She
pointed out that the councils were only recently removed from House Bills 1125 and 1264 —
legislation that, if passed, would have eliminated all regional planning councils from Florida
statute. Given that the legislative session does not conclude until the end of June, she
cautioned that drawing attention now could risk those provisions being reinstated.

She was candid in stating that while her team is fully committed to supporting Southwest
Florida, they are asking that the Council wait until after the June 19th meeting before raising
any formal alarms to the Governor’s office. She suggested that the June meeting be used to
develop a clear path forward. Following that discussion, a letter to the Governor could then
outline a proactive game plan rather than simply signaling distress. She noted that such a
forward-looking approach would likely be better received, demonstrating that the agency is
actively seeking solutions. Jennifer added that in both public service and private business, this
type of initiative is generally more respected.

She concluded by expressing appreciation for the opportunity to participate in the June 19th
meeting and offered to help invite key stakeholders. However, she urged the Council not to go
on official record declaring the organization’s failure until that meeting has taken place.

Commissioner Stanley asked Ms. Codo-Salisbury if she had legal counsel who could attend the
meeting, to which she confirmed that she does and noted that their legal counsel has been with
the organization for several years and, as Margaret mentioned, has experience with the
dissolution of the Withlacoochee Regional Planning Council. While not suggesting that
dissolution is necessarily the path forward, it was emphasized that this attorney brings valuable
experience and a solid understanding of that process.

Commissioner McDaniel supports deferring the letter to the governor regarding the dissolution
of the Council. However, noted that he is in favor of inviting a representative from the
Governor's office to the June meeting.

Councilman Smith emphasized the importance of conveying a sense of urgency strong enough
to ensure that a representative from the Governor’s office attends the upcoming meeting. At
the same time, he cautioned against provoking the Legislature, which is still in special session.
He expressed appreciation that previous legislation aimed at dissolving the regional planning
councils did not move forward and clarified that his intent is not to "poke the bear," but rather
to communicate the seriousness of the situation in a way that prompts a response from the
Governor’s office, which has yet to reply to prior correspondence.

Commissioner McDaniel noted that the Council would have approximately 90 days following
the June meeting to take final action if dissolution becomes necessary. He supported Jennifer
Codo-Salisbury’s proposal to bring legal counsel to the meeting and suggested also inviting Mr.
Book, legal counsel for the FRCA.

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 10



Councilman Smith agreed with involving Mr. Book but stressed that he should be well-prepared
and fully briefed in advance, rather than arriving and learning about the situation on-site.

Commissioner McDaniel confirmed that the request would be made. He also stated that in the
Council’s upcoming communication to its members, he would include language from the
auditor’s report emphasizing the Council’s uncertain ability to continue operating without
member participation and financial support. He expressed hope that by the June meeting,
Collier County would be able to contribute funds under the newly proposed MOU and interlocal
agreement.

During the discussion on submitting the audit report, Jeff Tuscan noted that the Council has 30
days from the date of approval to submit the report, with a final deadline of June 30. He
suggested that, if approved today, the submission could be delayed closer to the June 19th
meeting to avoid raising concerns too far in advance of that meeting.

Commissioner McDaniel inquired about the timeline required to keep the organization
compliant, and Tuscan confirmed that the report must be submitted within 30 days of
approval—not later than June 30.

Councilman Smith questioned whether the audit had to be approved today?

Commissioner McDaniel responded that if it was delayed until the June 19th meeting, there
would still be time to submit it before the deadline. However, Mr. Tuscan noted he had another
commitment in Charlotte County that same morning and might not be available. McDaniel
clarified Mr. Tuscan didn’t need to be present for approval.

Commissioner Stanley asked if approving it that day would still allow them to delay submission
until after June 19th. Tuscan confirmed that the report would then be due by June 15th.
McDaniel emphasized that he wasn’t trying to manipulate the process and asked whether
Tuscan could meet his obligations if the report was approved on June 19th. Tuscan agreed, but
only if the meeting actually occurred, warning that missing the June 30th deadline would create
significant issues.

Councilman Smith voiced concern about the consistent difficulty in securing a quorum and
noted he might not be available on June 19th. He recommended approving the audit that day
while a quorum was present, allowing staff to choose a later submission date. He also pointed
out that if they waited until the last minute, it could take the Auditor General’s office additional
time—possibly weeks—to review the report, especially since they are overwhelmed with
submissions around the end of June.

Mr. Tuscan confirmed that delays in submission processing are common due to the volume of
reports received by the Auditor General’s office at that time.

Ms. Dozier expressed appreciation for the ongoing discussion and echoed the points made by
Jennifer from the Central Florida Regional Planning Council (RPC). She affirmed her
organization's willingness to assist and appreciated the support for their potential participation

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 11



in the June 19th meeting. Ms. Dozier emphasized the importance of exploring all available
options and suggested that Jennifer’s legal counsel could be valuable in determining next steps.
She recommended delaying a formal letter to the Governor, noting that the Governor has
historically been unresponsive to RPC communications and appointees. Ms. Dozier advocated
for holding internal discussions to clarify the path forward before involving the Governor's
office. She reiterated her commitment to collaboration, especially considering the unique
challenges and opportunities faced by the region, and looked forward to exploring how
counties could work together more effectively at the upcoming meeting.

Councilman Kramer, identifying himself as relatively new to the process, expressed frustration
over the lack of progress despite a year of similar discussions. He questioned why, if a helpful
plan exists, it had not yet been shared. Acknowledging the urgency due to the potential ripple
effects of decisions made, he urged for immediate action and transparency. He also posed a
broader question to the group about whether collaboration among all counties was essential,
suggesting that clarity on this issue was critical before moving forward.

Commissioner McDaniel addressed Commissioner Kramer's question, stating that it is possible
for the organization to continue in a different form through the reapportionment of its
members into other Regional Planning Councils (RPCs), but only if the current organization is
dissolved. He emphasized that full member participation is critical, both financially and
organizationally, for the council to function effectively.

Commissioner Bill Kramer acknowledged Commissioner McDaniel’s point but clarified that his
concern was specifically about the current organization. He questioned whether it could
function effectively without the active participation and financial support of the other counties
and municipalities. While he acknowledged that grants might be a potential funding source, he
expressed skepticism about relying solely on them. Kramer emphasized that, in order to fulfill
the organization's intended purpose, involvement from the broader regional partners is likely
necessary. He asked directly whether such participation is indeed a requirement for the
organization’s viability.

Commissioner McDaniel stated that participation of all the members is critical. From a financial
standpoint, certainly from a from a organizational standpoint.

Ms. Dozier noted that she is also new to the process, having joined the Florida Regional
Councils Association (FRCA) in October. While not relying solely on her newcomer status, she
suggested that fresh perspectives can be valuable. She acknowledged missing the meeting
organized by FRCA last fall but indicated she had been briefed on it. Ms. Dozier highlighted that
Jennifer from Central Florida, along with several other directors, has been actively engaged in
brainstorming ways to support the Southwest region and address its ongoing challenges.

Commissioner Bill Kramer requested clarification on what was meant by "very involved," noting
that discussions on the issue had been ongoing for a year and expressing a desire to understand
the extent of that involvement.

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 12



Ms. Dozier explained that, from her perspective, the discussion has been ongoing for some time
and appeared to culminate in the meeting last fall—just prior to her joining FRCA. She noted
that Jennifer, as one of the executive directors, could better speak to the details of those earlier
efforts. Ms. Dozier emphasized that while each regional council focuses on its specific area,
FRCA is committed to supporting all ten councils. She affirmed that alternative options do exist
and expressed interest in exploring them. However, she stressed that any decisions must
ultimately be made by the region itself. She added that gathering information and discussing
these possibilities during the June 19th meeting could be valuable, potentially uncovering
options that have not yet been considered.

Commissioner Bill Kramer suggested that Jennifer should respond to the question and
reiterated his main concern: whether any of the available options allow for excluding the other
counties and municipalities currently part of their organization. He questioned whether there is
a viable path forward if those entities choose not to participate and asked if Jennifer had insight
into that possibility.

Ms. Codo-Salisbury explained that the question regarding a path forward without full
participation from all counties and municipalities is best addressed during the June 19th
meeting with legal counsel. She indicated that statutory provisions do exist that may provide
options, but emphasized the importance of bringing all counties to the table. She committed to
personally reaching out to those counties to request their involvement, while acknowledging
their past reluctance.

Jennifer clarified for Commissioner Kramer that last year, FRCA, the Central Florida Regional
Planning Council, the Tampa Bay Regional Planning Council, and her board members attended a
meeting to initiate these discussions and had offered to continue them. However, she noted
that the agency leadership at the time did not advance those efforts, possibly due to full
agendas. Despite that, she stated that their offer of support has remained open and stressed
that now is a critical moment to revisit these conversations and move forward collaboratively.

Commissioner Kramer pressed for a clear, yes-or-no answer to whether the organization can
continue to operate if the counties and municipalities that have thus far shown no interest
maintain their position and decline to participate. He asked if there is any alternative plan that
could make the organization viable under those circumstances. While acknowledging his own
confidence in persuading others to join, he emphasized the need to know whether the
organization can realistically move forward if those entities continue to say no.

Jennifer Codo-Salisbury responded that there is no straightforward way forward without the
participation of the other counties, though she acknowledged that there are always potential
paths to explore.

Commissioner Bill Kramer interpreted this to mean that the organization could proceed without
full participation and thanked her for the clarification.

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 13



Jennifer clarified that she is not an attorney but noted that there may be legal avenues or
amendments to consider. She emphasized that these matters would be better addressed
during the June 19th meeting, for which she requested the group’s time and attention.

Commissioner McDaniel acknowledged that there is a legal aspect to the discussion that he and
others may not be fully equipped to address. He noted that their colleague on the Executive
Board, who holds a law degree, is better suited to consider the legal implications of the
guestions being raised. Commissioner McDaniel indicated that, based on what he heard from
Kristin and Jennifer, they plan to involve legal counsel from FRCA and have Jennifer bring her
own legal advisor to the upcoming meeting. He emphasized that several lawyers will be present
to thoroughly discuss the various possible paths forward, and that the key questions will likely
be answered during the June 19th meeting.

Commissioner Bill Kramer expressed a desire to receive any relevant materials in advance of
the meeting. He conveyed skepticism about the productivity of the previous October meeting,
noting that upon reviewing the materials afterward, it felt like they were stuck in a repetitive
cycle with little progress—comparing the situation not to a treadmill, but rather a wheel going
nowhere.

Ms. Dozier asked the Chair for a moment to add a brief comment. In response to Councilman
Kramer’s point, she agreed that having materials in advance would benefit everyone. She
encouraged the Executive Committee and members to submit specific questions they would
like addressed. Ms. Dozier acknowledged that while the general scope —exploring options going
forward—is understood, the issue is complex, particularly regarding legal considerations tied to
county participation. She also highlighted that the Regional Council is designated as a Federal
Economic Development District aligned with the Economic Development Administration
through the Department of Commerce, and that this designation will remain unchanged. Ms.
Dozier noted that recent discussions during the legislative session underscored the complexity
of these matters for all Regional Planning Councils. She offered to coordinate a meeting prior to
the June 19th session to address any specific questions and ensure members receive necessary
information in advance.

Councilman Ron Smith, speaking in his capacity as Treasurer, expressed deep concern about the
organization’s financial responsibilities. He emphasized the importance of aligning with FRCA
and Central Florida, noting a desire not to disrupt the broader statewide structure. Councilman
Smith underscored the significance of the organization, but stated candidly that, in his view,
there is no viable future for the Regional Planning Council without the active participation of
the other counties. He argued that it would be meaningless for the organization to function
solely as the Collier County Regional Planning Council, as its purpose is rooted in regional
collaboration. While individual counties may have opportunities to join other organizations, the
Council as it currently exists, a collective of six counties, requires broader participation to
maintain its relevance. With only one county involved, he asserted, the organization has no
meaningful path forward, as its foundational goal is inter-county cooperation.

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 14



Councilman Kramer expressed agreement with Councilman Smith’s assessment and stated that
he simply wanted to hear someone else articulate the same viewpoint. He emphasized that,
from a practical and operational standpoint, full participation from all member counties is
essential for the Council to fulfill its intended purpose. Kramer criticized repeated references to
the situation being “complicated,” arguing that the reality is quite simple: participation has
been lacking, and the organization has been deteriorating as a result. He acknowledged the
presence of legal considerations but pointed out that despite years of inaction, no legal
consequences have occurred, and even the governor has shown no interest in engaging on the
matter. Councilman Kramer suggested that if the region must join other organizations to move
forward, that would resolve the current impasse. He clarified that his passionate tone is
reflective of his coaching background, stressing that his intensity should not be mistaken for
anger. He closed with a metaphor, likening the current challenge to trying to lead a football
team that refuses to leave the locker room.

Councilman Ron Smith offered a motion for the acceptance of the audit as presented.
Commissioner Bill McDaniel seconded the motion to accept the audit. The motion was
approved unanimously.

Mr. Tuscan acknowledged the strong contributions of Margaret over the years, noting her
dedication and effectiveness in navigating the organization through complex circumstances. He
also commended Rebekah for her perseverance and diligence over the past year, particularly
with her circumstances in ensuring that all necessary information for the audit was provided.

Ms. Wuerstle then asked for confirmation from the Chair regarding whether the financial report
format met was acceptable. Commissioner McDaniel responded that he would prefer the
financial information presented differently, specifically with a clearer distinction between
restricted and unrestricted funds, as well as a breakdown of committed expenses associated
with each category.

Ms. Harp inquired whether any funds were, in fact, restricted, suggesting that all might be
unrestricted. Jeff Tuscan clarified that the most effective approach might be to examine each
specific revenue source and identify the associated costs. He explained that, for instance, grant
funds would typically be applied directly to the corresponding grant-related expenses.

Commissioner McDaniel agreed and explained he was looking for a clearer connection between
projected revenues—such as the $345,000 noted—and their respective sources, which include
resiliency grants, Brownfields grant, and VISTA Supervisor funding. He suggested discussing the
details offline for clarity. He then proposed deferring the notification to the Governor’s office
until after the June meeting, which was met with agreement from Don McCormick and
Councilman Smith.

Councilman Smith emphasized the urgency of the situation, urging that planning and
preparation begin immediately, not wait until the June 19th meeting. He stressed that concrete

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 15



steps must be taken over the next 30 days, including legal consultations and development of
alternative strategies.

In response, Commissioner McDaniel proposed that Jennifer and Kristin coordinate with
Rebekah to schedule at least one Zoom meeting before June 19th. He suggested using that
meeting to align on potential options, review them with legal counsel, and arrive at the June
meeting with a well-formed plan. He asked that calendars be coordinated promptly to ensure
participation.

Councilman Ron Smith offered a motion to accept the 6-month financial report, and the April
financials. Commissioner Bill McDaniel seconded the motion to accept the 6-month financial
report, and the April financials. The motion was approved unanimously.

Councilman Bill McDaniel offered a motion to appoint Commissioner Tim Stanley as Secretary
of the Executive Committee. Commissioner Ron Smith seconded the motion to appoint
Commissioner Tim Stanley as Secretary of the Executive Committee. The motion was
approved unanimously.

AGENDA ITEM #6(c)
FINANCIALS:
DRAFT INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT & BY-LAWS

Commissioner McDaniel introduced the next agenda item, which was the formal acceptance of
the draft interlocal bylaws and Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). He noted that although
his county commission, with input from their legal counsel, had already approved and accepted
the draft, it had been brought to his attention that the full Board had never officially done so.
As such, he moved that the Executive Board formally accept the draft interlocal bylaws and
MOU.

Councilman Ron Smith supported the motion, emphasizing that the assessments had already
been reduced by half and that he agreed that they are ready for approval.

Commissioner McDaniel added that he had communicated with Michael Atkins and the county
manager from Hendry County and was scheduled to attend an upcoming Hendry County Board
meeting. He reaffirmed that outreach to other counties was ongoing.

Ms. Wuerstle asked whether she should now circulate the draft for signatures from the other
counties of which Commissioner McDaniel stated that he would like it distributed to all the
counties.

Ms. Harp raised a related question, asking if billing should now reflect the 15-cent rate,
assuming the draft was approved. Commissioner McDaniel confirmed this.

Ms. Wuerstle cautioned that legal counsel might need to confirm whether billing at the new
rate could begin before all counties signed off on the draft. A representative from the

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 16



Southwest Florida Regional Planning Council noted that the billing method was not a major
issue from their perspective.

Commissioner McDaniel stated that, as he understood it, the Executive Board was authorized
to act on behalf of the full Council. Councilman Smith agreed and suggested billing at the
reduced rate to see if anyone objected.

Commissioner McDaniel confirmed that, since the Executive Board had adopted the draft
interlocal bylaws and MOU, billing could proceed at the new reduced rate. Councilman Smith
requested that the City of Venice also be billed accordingly.

Ms. Wuerstle sought clarification on whether the documents were now officially adopted or
still in draft form. Commissioner Stanley responded that the MOU would remain in draft status
until all counties had signed. Commissioner McDaniel agreed, stating the draft designation
would remain to allow counties to propose revisions before final adoption.

Councilman Smith pointed out that the current version should be considered draft
amendments to the existing governing document, clarifying that the organization already
operates under an existing framework.

Commissioner McDaniel reiterated that the Executive Committee had accepted the draft and
acknowledged the distinction between formal and draft status, reaffirming that labeling the
documents as "draft interlocal bylaws and MOU" was still appropriate.

Councilman Smith expressed frustration that some clerks were using the draft status to argue
against paying the revised assessment rate, suggesting that referring to them as amendments
might clarify their legitimacy.

Commissioner McDaniel noted that no statute or interlocal agreement mandates payment from
members, so enforcement is not feasible. He emphasized that by formally accepting the draft,
he hoped to persuade Collier County to make a payment at the newly approved 15-cent rate.
That payment would be reflected in financial updates provided at the June 19th meeting.

Commissioner Bill McDaniel offered a motion to accept the draft Interlocal Agreement,
Bylaws and MOU. Councilman Ron Smith seconded the motion to accept the draft Interlocal
Agreement, Bylaws and MOU. The motion was approved unanimously.

AGENDA ITEM #7 (a)
INFORMATIONAL ITEMS
STAFF LIST

No discussion took place.

AGENDA ITEM #7 (b)
INFORMATIONAL ITEMS

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 17



GRANT ACTIVITY SHEET
No discussion took place.

AGENDA ITEM #7(c)
INFORMATIONAL ITEMS
FINANCIALS: DRAFT COMPARISON OF ASSESSMENTS (Current vs. Proposed)

No discussion took place.

AGENDA ITEM #7(d)
INFORMATIONAL ITEMS
GOVERNMENT FUND HISTORY

No discussion took place.

AGENDA ITEM #8(a)
DIRECTORS REPORT

Ms. Wuerstle informed the Board that the legislative bills proposing the elimination of the
Regional Planning Councils (RPCs) had been dropped, which Kristin noted earlier, and is great
news.

She also reported that a meeting had taken place earlier in the week with Greg Vaday to discuss
supplemental funding. Mr. Vaday reviewed several submitted projects and did not indicate any
issues. Ms. Wuerstle noted that she had previously shared information suggesting that the
President’s proposed budget did not include funding for the Economic Development
Administration (EDA), but she had received no further updates on that matter. Another
meeting with Mr. Vaday was scheduled for the coming week, though the specific agenda was
unclear. However, during the last discussion, Mr. Vaday categorized each submitted project—
advising which ones should be directed to FEMA, the state, or EDA. Ms. Wuerstle confirmed
that she had a list of these projects and would keep the Board informed of any developments.

Councilman Ron Smith inquired about the anticipated announcement for funding availability.
Ms. Wuerstle replied that Mr. Vaday had indicated it would likely come by late June or July,
based on their most recent conversation. She remained hopeful that upcoming discussions
would bring more positive news.

Mr. Burch then offered remarks in appreciation of Ms. Wuerstle’s leadership. He commended
her for accomplishing a great deal with limited resources over several years. He specifically
acknowledged her role in bringing together and supporting the current team, including
Catherine, Julie, and Rebekah, emphasizing that their presence and effectiveness were direct
results of her administration.

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 18



He described the organization’s performance as “stellar,” noting that it had continued to deliver
valuable work despite numerous challenges and the absence of consistent board engagement.
Mr. Burch stressed that the Southwest Florida Regional Planning Council serves the people of
the region—something he felt was often overlooked.

He issued a cautionary note: if the Council were dissolved and responsibilities shifted to other
counties or regions like Miami or Tampa, there was no guarantee that absent board members
would engage more actively in those new structures. The true loss, he warned, would be to the
residents of Southwest Florida, who would be deprived of their regional voice.

He concluded by thanking Margaret Wuerstle for her tireless efforts in keeping the Council alive
and relevant, emphasizing that her dedication has helped preserve a critical platform for
regional representation. He also thanked Commissioner McDaniel for his continued leadership
in these efforts.

AGENDA ITEM #8(b)
COMMITTEE REPORTS

AGENDA ITEM #8(c)
STATE AGENCIES COMMENTS/REPORTS

No State Agency’s reports given.

AGENDA ITEM #9
NEW BUSINESS

No discussion took place.

AGENDA ITEM #10
COUNCIL MEMBERS’ COMMENTS

Commissioner Stanley stated that he felt the meeting had been productive and expressed hope
that progress would continue. He emphasized the importance of having full participation at the
next meeting, noting that it is imperative all counties are represented. He added that he plans
to personally contact commissioners from Lee County and other jurisdictions to ensure they
send representatives to the June meeting.

Mr. Don McCormick remarked that he has been actively involved with the organization for 17
years. He noted that during his first few years, he served as an elected official before
transitioning to a gubernatorial appointee. He addressed Coach Kramer directly, explaining that
his leadership role was often overshadowed by his appointed status, and that, in his view, only
elected county commissioners should lead the organization. Nonetheless, he believes he

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 19



achieved something meaningful: keeping the organization alive long enough for county
commissioners in Southwest Florida to recognize that forming a new entity to represent the
region isn’t as simple as it may seem. He emphasized that no alternative structure has been
successfully created during his 17 years of involvement and expressed hope that, on June 19th,
the commissioners will come together and agree on a clear path forward.

Councilman Smith stated that the City of Venice is holding a joint meeting with the Sarasota
County Commission the following day. He plans to speak directly with Commissioner
Cutzinger—whose name is listed on the roster—about attending the June 19th meeting. With
Commissioner Cutzinger’s permission, Councilman Smith said he would also consider making a
statement at the joint meeting to emphasize the importance of participation in the upcoming
June meeting.

Commissioner McDaniel shared that he plans to reach out to Joe from Sarasota County, noting
that they both serve on the MPOAC committee and have developed a good working
relationship. He mentioned ongoing communication with various counties but acknowledged,
as Commissioner Stanley had noted earlier, that it takes two willing parties to schedule a
meeting. McDaniel reflected that sometimes delays fall on him as well, given his demanding
schedule. He expressed appreciation for everyone’s efforts.

He then offered a personal thank you to Executive Director Margaret, acknowledging that this
was her final meeting with the council in that role. He commended her for doing the best
possible job with the resources available and affirmed that the council would continue striving
forward.

Kristin Dozier addressed the chair, explaining she had raised her hand during Margaret’s report
to provide an update on legislative matters and the upcoming EDA meeting referenced earlier.
She offered to either share the update then or wait.

Commissioner McDaniel responded that the update could be held until the June meeting, to
which Dozier agreed, noting they would have more complete information on the EDA and
disaster supplemental funding by then. She closed by thanking the group and expressing
enthusiasm for continued collaboration.

AGENDA ITEM #11
DI

The megtin , adjouried at 11:33 a.

Covﬁnissione'r Bill McDaniel, Chair )\

3

The meeting was duly advertised in the May 7, 2025, issue of the FLORIDA ADMINISTRATIVE
REGISTER, Volume 51, Number 89.

Minutes by Catherine Peralta/Rebekah Harp, SWFRPC Page 20





